IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC10-1754 L.T. Case Nos.: 4D10-203 2008DR011685MB

ROBIN ROSHKIND,

Petitioner,

v.

BELINDA CHARLENE MACHIELA,

Respondent.

/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Robin Roshkind, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 135283 Attorney for Petitioner 625 N. Flagler Dr., Ste 509 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: 561-835-9091 Email: attykind@aol.com Robin Bresky, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 179329 Jonathan Mann, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 28090 Law Offices of Robin Bresky Attorneys for Petitioner 7777 Glades Road, Suite 110 Boca Raton, FL 33434 Telephone: 561-994-6273 Email: rbresky@bellsouth.net

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT8
STANDARD OF REVIEW9
ARGUMENT9
 I. EXPERT WITNESS TESTIMONY REGARDING THE REASONABLENESS OF ATTORNEY'S FEES SHOULD NOT BE REQUIRED
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So. 2d 1145(Fla. 1985)
<i>Franklin & Marbin, P.A. v. Mascola</i> , 711 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)12-15, 16, 17
Gossett & Gossett, P.A. v. Mervolion, 941 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006)
<i>G.S. v. T.B.</i> , 985 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 2008)
Island Hoppers, Ltd. v. Keith, 820 So. 2d 967 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) 10-11
<i>Lyle v. Lyle</i> , 167 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964)
Robin Roshkind, P.A. v. Machiela, 45 So. 3d 480 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) 6-7
<i>Sea World of Fla., Inc. v. Ace Am. Ins. Cos., Inc.,</i> 28 So. 3d 158 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010)
Sourcetrack, LLC v. Ariba, Inc., 34 So. 3d 766 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010) 10
Standard Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom, 555 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 1990) 13
Other Authority

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, ROBIN ROSHKIND, P.A., shall be referred to as "Petitioner" or

"the Roshkind firm." Respondent, BELINDA CHARLENE MACHIELA, shall be

referred to as "Machiela." References to the Appendix are abbreviated as follows:

(App., A:(pg.#)) = Order on Robin Roshkind P.A.'s Corrected Motion for Entry of Final Judgment Adjudicating Charging Lien and for Entry of a Money Judgment

(App., B:(pg.#)) = Motion for Rehearing on Robin Roshkind P.A.'s Corrected Motion for Entry of Final Judgment Adjudicating Charging Lien and for Entry of a Money Judgment

(App., C:(pg.#)) = Retainer Agreement

(App., D) = Notice of Charging Lien

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Robin Roshkind, P.A., represented Respondent, Machiela, in a dissolution of marriage proceeding in the trial court (App., A). The fee agreement between Machiela and the Roshkind firm was a periodic fee agreement that provided Machiela would pay the firm \$262.50 per hour for attorney's fees and \$135.00 per hour for paralegal time (App., C:2-3)¹. The fee agreement also required Machiela to object in writing within thirty days to any charges she disputed or found erroneous (App., C:2).

On October 21, 2009, the trial court granted the Roshkind firm leave to withdraw from the representation, and Machiela thereafter obtained substitute counsel (App., A:1).² The Roshkind firm later sought a charging lien relative to any and all property of Machiela in the dissolution proceeding (App., D). On October 26, 2009, the Roshkind firm filed a Corrected Motion for Entry of Final Judgment Adjudicating Charging Lien and for Entry of a Money Judgment (App., A).

The trial court held a hearing on the Roshkind firm's motion on December 21, 2009 (App., A:1). The Roshkind firm presented testimony from the lead

¹ Page 3 of the fee agreement shows a notation that the stated fee of \$350.00 for attorney time would be subject to a 25% reduction. This reduction accounts for the \$262.50 per hour rate.

 $^{^{2}}$ The trial court docket reflects that although the Roshkind firm filed its motion to withdraw on or about July 24, 2009, the trial court did not grant the motion until October 21, 2009.

attorney on the case regarding the amounts due and owing, the firm's written fee agreement with Machiela, the complete billing history for the firm's representation of Machiela in this case, and the firm's timely-filed Notice of Charging Lien (App., B:4). The Roshkind firm also presented uncontroverted evidence that Machiela never objected in writing to the fees billed (App., B:4).

The trial court denied the Roshkind firm's motion by written order dated December 22, 2009 (App., A). In its Order, the trial court stated that "[w]hile an award of fees under Chapter 61 need not be supported by testimony of a corroborating expert," the Roshkind firm sought fees pursuant to the contract with its former client and not a statutory fee award under Chapter 61, Florida Statutes (App., A:2). The trial court denied the firm's motion on the basis that the firm "failed to present any independent expert testimony" in support of its motion (App., A:2).

The Roshkind firm appealed the trial court's ruling to the Fourth District Court of Appeal ("Fourth District"). *Robin Roshkind, P.A. v. Machiela*, 45 So. 3d 480 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). On appeal, the Roshkind firm argued that the trial court erred in finding that the law required expert testimony where an attorney seeks fees directly from the attorney's client rather than from the adverse party. *Robin Roshkind, P.A.*, 45 So. 3d at *1. The Fourth District issued an opinion affirming the trial court's decision. The court stated that the general rule is that a party seeking attorney's fees must present independent expert testimony where the party seeks fees from the adverse party. *Id.* at *3-4. The Fourth District also stated that "case law throughout this state has adhered to the requirement of an independent expert witness to establish the reasonableness of fees, regardless of whether a first or third party is responsible for payment." *Id.* at *4.

However, the Fourth District noted that it had previously questioned the expert testimony requirement, and opined that the requirement that attorneys' fees be reasonable may not warrant the associated increased litigation costs and use of judicial resources. *Id.* at *6-7. The Fourth District further noted that the factual circumstances of the present case provide the perfect context for again questioning the requirement's validity. *Id.* at *5-6. The Fourth District therefore affirmed on the basis the trial court's ruling was required under the existing law, but certified the question to this Court as one of great public importance. *Id.* at *7.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Expert testimony supporting attorney fees should no longer be required as a matter of law generally. As the Fourth District Court of Appeal and other courts have noted, requiring expert testimony needlessly increases litigation costs and expends judicial resources, especially in light of the fact that judges are already aware of reasonable attorney fees in their legal communities. The requirement of expert testimony is of little or no assistance to the court, and should be abolished because any assistance it provides is outweighed by the additional costs and resources it requires.

More specific to this case, the trial court committed an error of law when it denied the Roshkind firm's motion for failure to present independent expert testimony. Independent expert testimony regarding fees is not required under Florida law under these circumstances, when a law firm seeks fees owed directly from its client by means of a charging lien based on the contractual relationship created by a fee agreement. Even if expert testimony regarding the reasonableness of fees were required for Petitioner's charging lien, the trial court should have allowed Petitioner the opportunity to provide such testimony before denying the motion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court denied the Roshkind firm's motion based on a question of law. "An appellate court will review de novo whether the trial court's determinations are based on a proper interpretation of the law." *G.S. v. T.B.*, 985 So. 2d 978, 982 (Fla. 2008). Petitioner therefore submits that the appropriate standard of review is de novo.

ARGUMENT

I. EXPERT WITNESS TESTIMONY REGARDING THE REASONABLENESS OF ATTORNEY'S FEES SHOULD NOT BE REQUIRED

Expert fee witness testimony should no longer be required to support the reasonableness of an attorney's fees. Several district courts of appeal in Florida, in cases outside of the first-party charging lien context present in this case, have previously questioned whether the requirement actually serves its purported purpose. These cases provide the reasoning and analysis this Court should use to hold the requirement no longer valid.

In *Island Hoppers, Ltd. v. Keith,* 820 So. 2d 967, 972 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), the Fourth District affirmed an attorney's fee award arising out of a wrongful death case where entitlement to the award had already been established and the amount of the award was the only issue. The Fourth District noted the general rule requiring expert testimony and held that the requirement had been met despite the appellant's allegation that the expert witness lacked a factual predicate for his opinion. *Island Hoppers*, 820 So. 2d at 970-71. However, the court expressed its concern about the requirement of expert testimony as to fees. *Id.* at 972. Specifically, the court expressed doubt that expert witnesses are more knowledgeable in many cases than trial judges as to the reasonableness of attorney fees. *Id.; but see Sourcetrack, LLC v. Ariba, Inc.*, 34 So. 3d 766, 768 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010) (adhering to requirement of expert fee testimony and noting some judges may be unfamiliar with work performed by counsel). The court also pointed out that appellate courts do not hesitate to disregard the expert testimony and reverse "patently excessive" fee awards. *Id.*

Concurring specially, Judge Gross stated that the requirement rests on "shaky theoretical grounds," because it traces back to *Lyle v. Lyle*, 167 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964), where the court justified the requirement on public policy grounds but failed to cite any authority. *Id.* at 976; *see also* Robert J. Hauser, Raymond E. Kramer III, & Patricia A. Leonard, *Is Expert Testimony Really Needed in Attorney's Fees Litigation?*, Fla. B.J., Jan. 2003, at 38 ("There is no Florida rule of procedure, rule of evidence, or statute requiring expert testimony to support an award of attorneys' fees. This requirement originated in case law"). Noting that the public policy basis of the rule was ostensibly to maintain the image

of lawyers, Judge Gross opined that any contribution the rule had made "is not so great so as to preclude modification of the rule to be more in accord with the current reality." *Id.* Judge Gross further noted the contradiction present in the fact that the law requires expert testimony but the trial court is free to disregard the testimony of the lawyer and his expert regarding the fees. *Id.* at 977.

Recently, in *Sea World of Fla., Inc. v. Ace Am. Ins. Cos., Inc.*, 28 So. 3d 158, 161 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010), the Fifth District Court of Appeal joined the Fourth District in questioning the need for the rule requiring expert testimony to support an award of fees:

Although not necessary to the resolution of the instant case, we join the Fourth District Court of Appeal in questioning the continued need for this judicially-created rule [requiring expert testimony]. Island Hoppers Ltd. v. Keith, 820 So. 2d 967, 977 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), rev. on other grounds, Sarkis v. Allstate, 863 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 2003) (Gross, J., concurring specially) ("Though Florida courts have long required the corroborative testimony of an expert 'fees witness,' we question whether the rule is always the best, or more judicious practice.") It is speculation as to whether the application of this rule has helped to "maintain the image of lawyers in the eyes of the public." It is not speculation that claimants expend time and money to retain fee experts, even in those cases where their testimony is likely to be of little or no assistance. As observed by some commentators, expert testimony in fees cases "is often nothing more than a rubber stamp of the billing and time records submitted to the court by the party seeking fees,"

The cases above accurately set forth the reasons why the judicially-created

rule requiring expert testimony in support of attorney's fees should be abolished.

In sum, the rule is acknowledged to provide little help to the capable judges of this

state while draining judicial resources and adding to the amount of litigation and expense of a case. Petitioner respectfully urges this Court to recognize that doing away with the testimony requirement will not do away with the reasonableness requirement itself, and to hold that expert testimony is no longer necessary.

II. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT DENIED THE ROSHKIND FIRM'S CHARGING LIEN FOR FAILURE TO PRESENT EXPERT TESTIMONY

The trial court incorrectly interpreted the law when it denied the Roshkind firm's motion for failure to present independent expert testimony. The trial court's ruling assumes that the trial court had the duty, sometimes imposed upon trial courts in other contexts, to review the attorney's fee for reasonableness. Such is not the case here. Independent expert testimony regarding fees is not required under Florida law when a law firm seeks a charging lien for fees owed directly from its client based on the contractual relationship created by a fee agreement.

The Fourth District stated that Petitioner's cited cases, *Franklin & Marbin*, *P.A. v. Mascola*, 711 So. 2d 46, 47 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) and *Gossett & Gossett*, *P.A., v. Mervolion*, 941 So. 2d 1207, 1208 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), failed to support Petitioner's argument because an expert witness had testified in *Franklin* and it was unclear if an expert had testified in *Gossett*. Petitioner respectfully disagrees with the Fourth District's conclusion regarding the applicability of *Franklin* and *Gossett* to the present case. Petitioner maintains that, despite the points noted by the Fourth District in its opinion, *Franklin* and *Gossett* provide useful reasoning and guidance on this issue.

In *Franklin*, a law firm entered into a periodic fee agreement with a client to represent her in a paternity case. 711 So. 2d at 47-48. The written fee agreement included a provision requiring the client to object to any errors or discrepancies in the bill in writing within fifteen days. *Id*. The firm later withdrew from the representation and filed a motion for a charging lien. *Id*. at 48. The trial court held a hearing on the law firm's motion for final judgment on its charging lien and reduced the law firm's fee from \$19,561.00 to \$6,800.00 even though the client never objected to the fee. *Id*. The law firm appealed. *Id*.

On appeal, the Fourth District explained that *Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe*, 472 So. 2d 1145 (Fla. 1985) and *Standard Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom*, 555 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 1990) require courts to award only a *reasonable* fee when someone other than the client is required to pay the other party's attorney's fees. *Id.* at 48-49. The Court further explained that "[u]nder *Rowe*, the trial court determines a reasonable fee from testimony by expert witness lawyers as to the prevailing rates for attorneys in comparable circumstances and as to the amount of time reasonably expended by the attorney for the party seeking payment." *Id.* at 49. The Court distinguished those situations from the one before it, which involved a client's contractual obligation to pay fees directly to the

client's lawyer. *Id.* The Court noted that it and other courts had held "the *Rowe* formula" inapplicable when the law firm seeks fees directly from its client. *Id.* at 50.

The Court discussed the foundation, based in freedom of contract principles, for the rule that agreements for services between attorneys and clients should be enforced after services are performed. *Id.* at 50-51. After cautioning that fee agreements are still subject to the requirements of rule 4-1.5(d) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, the Court concluded³:

[T]he contract rule of *Stabinski*, *Lugassy*, and *Pierce*, as well as rule 4-1.5(d), governs the rights and liabilities of the parties to this fee agreement. In the absence of a legal determination by the court that the fee contract is illegal, prohibited, or excessive, under a periodic fee agreement for services already performed the lawyer is entitled to a money judgment for the amount of fees due under the contract.

Id. at 52.

The court's holding quoted above is squarely applicable to the instant case. The Fourth District was correct that the law firm in *Franklin* had an expert testify that the firm's fees and hours expended were reasonable. *Id.* at 48. Despite that fact, the law firm's contention was that the fee dispute was governed by the client's contract with the firm and the reasonableness of the fee was not a matter to be determined by the trial court as it is under prevailing party attorney fee provisions

³ The Court ultimately reversed the trial court's determination of the amount of fees due because there was nothing recovered in the paternity action to which the lien could attach. *Id.* at 54.

of certain contracts or statutes. *Id.* The clear extension of the holding in *Franklin* - that the first party dispute should be governed by the fee agreement between the lawyer and client - is that the reasonableness of the fee should not require expert testimony because it is not subject to the court's determination.⁴

More recently, the Fourth District ruled, consistent with the reasoning of *Franklin* discussed above, to reverse a trial court's decision reducing a law firm's fees in the enforcement of a charging lien. In *Gossett & Gossett, P.A., v. Mervolion*, 941 So. 2d 1207, 1208 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), Mervolion⁵ entered into a written fee agreement with a law firm in which she paid a sum up-front, agreed to pay another lump sum shortly afterward, and further agreed to pay \$300 per hour for the firm's services. The agreement included a charging lien in favor of the law firm upon the proceeds of the litigation and Mervolion's real property that was the subject of the litigation. *Gossett*, 941 So. 2d at 1208. Following trial, the trial court entered "a final judgment enforcing the charging lien . . . in an amount less than that contractually billed, but in an amount determined by the court to be a 'reasonable fee.'" *Id.* at 1209.

The law firm appealed, arguing that the trial court erred in reviewing the bills and determining Mervolion owed less than she was billed, pointing out that

 $^{^4}$ Outside of a finding pursuant to rule 4-1.5(d) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

⁵ Mervolion later changed her name to Flori, and the opinion refers to her mainly as Flori. *Gossett*, 941 So. 2d at 1208.

Mervolion never objected to the charges.⁶ *Id.* The Fourth District agreed with the appellant law firm, under the reasoning that, "[a] charging lien is contractual in nature and is to be based upon the amount agreed with the client, not an amount to be determined by the trial court." *Id.* The Court reversed and remanded to the lower court to enter judgment "based on the contractually agreed-to fees." *Id.*

The trial court's ruling in the present case overlooks the key distinction discussed by this Court in *Franklin*, the identity of the party from whom the law firm seeks the payment of fees. *Franklin* and *Gossett* illustrate that the "contract theory" applies where a law firm seeks its fees directly from a former client by means of a charging lien. As the Fourth District noted, it is unclear whether the law firm in *Gossett* introduced the testimony of an expert as to fees. However, whether an expert testified as to fees is irrelevant, because *Gossett* clearly held that the reasonableness of the fees as agreed to in the fee agreement was not an issue for the trial court to determine. Id. Similarly, the trial court here was not required to examine Petitioner's fees for reasonableness because the Roshkind firm sought a charging lien for fees owed to it directly from its former client. Expert witness testimony was therefore unnecessary to enter a judgment enforcing Petitioner's charging lien.

⁶ The appellant law firm in *Gossett* also appealed the trial court's denial of fees incurred in collecting its attorney fees and the denial of fees under section 57.105, Florida Statutes. These issues are not relevant to the present appeal.

The Roshkind firm's periodic fee agreement with Machiela is similar to the one at issue in *Franklin*. The trial court's order states that "[the Roshkind firm] presented testimony that it billed Wife \$61,530 in attorney's fees at \$262.50 an hour; \$27,661.50 in paralegal time at \$135 per hour; \$8,919.15 in administrative costs (computed at 10% of professional bills); \$1,577.32 for WestLaw research; \$1,092.52 for other costs; and \$5,272.79 for 18% interest on outstanding fees." (App., A:2). The Roshkind firm also presented evidence that Machiela did not object to the fees in writing as required by the fee agreement (App., B:4). Machiela failed to present any evidence to the contrary, and admitted she failed to object to the fees in writing (App., B:4). Absent a finding that the fee agreement violated rule 4-1.5, Franklin, Gossett, and the cases discussed therein dictate that the trial court did not have the discretion to deny the Roshkind firm its charging lien on the grounds that it did not present independent expert testimony in support of its fees.

CONCLUSION

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