IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC10-1754 L.T. Case Nos.: 4D10-203 2008DR011685MB

ROBIN ROSHKIND,

Petitioner,

vs.

BELINDA CHARLENE MACHIELA,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

E. Blake Paul, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0086118 Stephen R. Senn, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0833878 PETERSON & MYERS, P.A. Post Office Box 24628 Lakeland, Florida 33802-4628 Telephone: (863) 683-6511 Fax: (863) 904-1335 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida attorneys are officers of the court and the closest of fiduciaries to their clients. As such, it has been long recognized that courts have a legitimate and important interest in closely monitoring and scrutinizing attorneys' interactions with their clients. Attorneys' billing practices are no different, and when an attorney seeks court approval of his fee, the court should take great care to ensure the fairness of the transaction. The long-standing rule requiring expert testimony to support an attorney's fee award is one important tool in allowing courts to scrutinize attorneys' fees and protect individual litigants, as well as ensure continued confidence in the judicial system. The very limited benefits of eliminating this requirement are outweighed by the rule's importance in protecting litigants when they are at their most vulnerable.

The Contract Rule applied to the Retainer Agreement in this case is particularly in need of expert testimony to support an attorney's fee award. Retainer Agreements such as the one at issue here, where there is no set hourly rate or specific fee based on a contingency, are particularly susceptible to abuse. In determining whether the fee is "clearly excessive" in accordance with Rule 4-1.5(a) and (b) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, trial courts should have the benefit and clients should have the protection of expert testimony to assist the trial court in making its determination.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Where the District Court of Appeal certifies a question to the Florida Supreme Court, the Court is privileged to review the entire decision of the District Court of Appeal. <u>Confederation of Canada Life Ins. Co. v. Arminan</u>, 144 So. 2d 805, 807 (Fla. 1962). Machiela agrees that the standard of review, therefore, is de novo. However, the Court's review should focus on whether the decision and opinion of the District Court was correct, and this Court should not consider matters not before the District Court. <u>Id. See also Giblin v. City of Coral Gables</u>, 149 So. 2d 561, 561-62 (Fla. 1963).

ARGUMENT I

The Long-standing Rule Requiring Expert Testimony to Support Attorney's Fee Awards Should be Upheld by this Court.

Justice Cardozo penned one of the most often cited descriptions of how the

law views a fiduciary relationship:

Many forms of conduct permissible in a workaday world for those acting at arm's length, are forbidden to those bound by fiduciary ties. A trustee is held to something stricter than the morals of the market place. Not honesty alone, but the punctilio of an honor the most sensitive, is then the standard of behavior. As to this, there has developed a tradition unbending that is and inveterate. Uncompromising rigidity has been the attitude of courts of equity when petitioned to undermine the rule of undivided loyalty by the "disintegrating erosion of particular exceptions." Only thus has the level of conduct for fiduciaries been kept at a level higher than that trodden by the crowd. It will not consciously be lowered by any judgment of this court.

Meinhard v. Salmon, 164 N.E. 545, 546 (NY Ct. App. 1928)(citation omitted).

The relationship between a client and his attorney is precisely the type of relationship Justice Cardozo described above. In fact, this Court has stated that "there is <u>no</u> relationship between individuals which involves a greater degree of trust and confidence than that of attorney and client." <u>Gerlach v. Donnelly</u>, 98 So. 2d 493, 498 (Fla. 1957)(emphasis added). Consequently, attorneys' business dealings with clients are subject to the closest scrutiny by the courts, and the burden is on the attorney to establish by clear and convincing evidence the fairness

"of an agreement or transaction purporting to convey a property right from a client to his attorney." <u>Id</u>.

In addition to holding a fiduciary position with their clients, as "officers of the court" attorneys hold a special place of trust in society. According to this Court, "[I]awyers have been granted a special boon by the State of Florida – they in effect have a monopoly on the public justice system." In re Amendments to the <u>Rules Regulating the Florida Bar</u>, 598 So. 2d 41, 43 (Fla. 1992). As such, courts have "'an especially great' interest in regulating lawyers, since 'lawyers are essential to the primary governmental function of administering justice.'" <u>Schwartz v. Kogan</u>, 132 F.3d 1387, 1391 (11th Cir. 1998)(<u>quoting Kirkpatrick v.</u> <u>Shaw</u>, 70 F.3d 100, 103 (11th Cir. 1995).

Close scrutiny of attorneys' interactions with their clients is particularly important in dissolution of marriage cases like the one before the Court. Certainly, very few legal proceedings are as personal and contentious as the dissolution of a marriage. Few clients seeking legal advice are in a more vulnerable position than the client seeking a divorce. In this case, the attorney for Ms. Machiela, on the eve of filing a petition to dissolve her marriage, had her sign a fee contract containing extremely onerous terms, including the waiver of her right to a trial by jury and a waiver of her right to object to her attorneys withdrawing from the representation. In addition, although the contract contained a reference to hourly rates, the fee to be charged was uncertain, and to be determined by the law firm in accordance with only some of the criteria set forth in the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. Finally, the Retainer Agreement gave the law firm a perpetual lien on the subject matter of the lawsuit and all personal and real property, including homestead, owned by Ms. Machiela. Under these circumstances, the highest level of scrutiny should be applied to the activities of the firm, and the ultimate attorney's fee it deemed to charge.

Petitioner claims that the long-standing rule of requiring expert testimony to support an award of attorney's fees had its genesis with the Second District in Lyle v. Lyle, 167 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964). While this case certainly provided the basis for the modern rule, the use of expert testimony to support attorney's fee awards predates the Lyle case by many years. In Baruch v. Giblin, 164 So. 831, 833 (Fla. 1935), this Court held that, while the practitioner is competent to testify as to the value of his services, separate expert testimony "may be offered in support of the issue as to the value of the services" This Court went on to state:

There is but little analogy between the elements that control the determination of a lawyer's fee and those which determine the compensation of skilled craftsmen in other fields. Lawyers are officers of the court. The court is an instrument of society for the administration of justice. Justice should be administered economically, efficiently, and expeditiously. The attorney's fee is, therefore, a very important factor in the administration of justice, and if it is not determined with proper relation to that fact it results in a

species of social malpractice that undermines the confidence of the public in the bench and bar. It does more than that; it brings the court into disrepute and destroys its power to perform adequately the function of its creation.

<u>Id</u>.

The long-standing rule of requiring expert testimony to support an attorney's fee award is one way of protecting against abuses by attorneys, and ensuring continued confidence of the public in the judicial system. The Second District Court of Appeal correctly held that the self-serving testimony of the attorney responsible for the representation is insufficient to satisfy the special scrutiny applied to attorneys who ask the courts to approve their fees. Lyle, 167 So. 2d at 257. Instead, the responsible attorney's testimony must be supported by competent expert testimony supporting the value of the services rendered. Id.

Just four years after <u>Lyle</u>, this Court addressed a similar issue in <u>Lee</u> <u>Engineering & Construction Co. v. Fellows</u>, 209 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1968). In that case, the parties wished to use a stipulation to allow the trial court in worker's compensation proceedings to determine, in its own discretion, and without the benefit of any evidence from the parties, the amount of attorney's fees to award the claimant. <u>Id</u>. at 456. Even the Florida Industrial Commission supported this procedure based on the need for expediency in the face of overwhelming caseloads. <u>Id</u>. at 457. However, this Court declined to take that step in the name of efficiency. Instead, the Court held that a trial court may not award fees based solely on its discretion and personal experience. Rather, the trial court must have "some evidence in the record to reflect the reasonable value of the services rendered, as well as the customary charge for such services in the community where they were rendered." <u>Id</u>. at 458.

The rule requiring expert testimony in support of attorney's fees has been followed in Florida since, at least, the Lyle decision in 1966. See Sourcetrack, LLC v. Ariba, Inc., 34 So. 3d 766 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010); Island Hoppers, Ltd. v. Keith, 820 So. 2d 967 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)(holding that expert testimony is necessary to support attorney fee claim against third party); Sea World of Florida, Inc. v. Ace American Ins. Companies, Inc., 28 So. 3d 158 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010)(holding that expert testimony is required for fee claims against third parties); Universal Beverages Holdings, Inc. v. Merkin, 902 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005)(holding that evidence, including expert testimony, was sufficient to support attorney's fee claim against client even without detailed billing records). Before overturning precedent, this Court traditionally asks whether (1) the prior rule proved unworkable due to reliance on an impractical legal fiction; (2) the rule can be reversed without serious injustice to those who have relied on it and without serious disruption in the stability of the law; and (3) the factual premises on which the rule is based have changed so drastically, that the rule is utterly without legal

justification. <u>See North Florida Women's Health and Counseling Services, Inc. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 866 So. 2d 612, 637-638 (Fla. 2003).¹

Opponents of the rule argue that the rule should be abolished because it has become unworkable due to additional delay and expense associated with expert testimony. See Island Hoppers, Ltd. v. Keith, 820 So. 2d 967, 976-977 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)(J. Gross dissenting). See also Robert J. Hauser, Raymond E. Kramer III, & Patricia A. Leonard, Is Expert Testimony Really Needed in Attorney's Fees Litigation?, Fla. B.J., Jan. 2003. However, as the authors of the above article point out, very little of the expense and delay involved in attorney's fee litigation is directly related to expert testimony. In fact, as this Court noted in Travieso v. Travieso, 474 So. 2d 1184, 1186 (Fla. 1985) traditionally, attorneys will testify gratuitously for other attorneys on the issue of reasonable fees. In those cases where extraordinary effort is required, the costs associated with hiring the expert witness will be borne by the non-prevailing party. Id. There is no evidence in this record to suggest that abolishing the need for expert testimony will (1) significantly reduce the hearing time necessary to make the fee determination, (2) reduce the wait time for hearing dates, or (3) eliminate discovery disputes; especially related to discovery of the attorney's files and billing records.

¹ Appellant is aware that the Florida Supreme Court has yet to issue a ruling on the necessity of expert testimony to support attorney's fee claims. However, since all parties agree that it is the established rule that such testimony is required, this Court should give the rule the same weight it gives other precedent.

Abolishing the rule will simply reduce the number of witnesses by one, perhaps two, and will limit the evidence available to the trial court to the self serving testimony of the attorneys responsible for the representation.

Opponents of the rule also challenge its legal justification. In his dissent, Judge Gross opined that the rule "rests on shaky theoretical grounds," and the rule's rationale ignores the "basic precept of our adversary system that the credibility of testimony is best resolved by the finder of fact." <u>Island Hoppers</u>, 820 So. 2d at 976. Others argue that attorney's fee retainer agreements are contracts, no different than any other, therefore obviating the necessity of expert witness testimony regarding the value of the services. <u>See Rosenberg v. Levin</u>, 409 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1982)(argument rejected by this Court). However, these arguments ignore the fact that the practice of law is different from other professions and subject to stricter scrutiny by the courts in a number of ways.

Heightened scrutiny is applied to attorney-client fee contracts. Courts are authorized to enforce the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, and Rule 4-1.5(a) specifically prohibits an attorney from charging an illegal, prohibited or clearly excessive fee or cost. Rule 4-1.5, Fla. R. Reg. Fla. Bar. In that regard, this Court has held that although fees will vary from case to case, "all of the time a lawyer spends on a case is not necessarily the amount of time for which he can properly charge his client [rather] it's the time that reasonably should be devoted to

accomplish a particular task." <u>The Florida Bar v. Richardson</u>, 574 So. 2d 60, 63 (Fla. 1990). Therefore, simply because an attorney and his client entered into a contract for specified rate (as is the case here), the attorney is not necessarily justified in charging the contract rate for every minute he spends on the file. Similarly, contracts that contain unreasonable time-periods within which a client may object to billing statements are unconscionable and unenforceable. <u>See Elser v. Law Offices of James M. Russ, P.A.</u>, 679 So. 2d 309, 313 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). Finally, special scrutiny is also applied to contracts containing arbitration provisions. <u>See Arabia v. Siedlecki</u>, 789 So. 2d 380, 383 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(holding that "[a]n attorney must be clear and precise in explaining the terms of a fee agreement. To the extent the contract is unclear, the agreement should be construed against the attorney.").

Like the fee agreements between attorney and client, the relationship between attorney and client is also subject to stricter scrutiny than other professional relationships. Rule 4-1.8(c) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar restricts a lawyer in soliciting gifts from clients and preparing instruments in which a client gives a gift to the lawyer. In fact, the law "takes a specially skeptical view" of gifts from client to attorney, and imposes a heightened burden on the attorney to prove by clear and convincing evidence the fairness of the gift. <u>Crane</u> <u>v. Stulz</u>, 136 So. 2d 238, 241 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). Courts also take a dim view of intimate relationships between attorney and client, scrutinizing the relationship beyond any criminal code to ensure fairness to the client and to ensure that the practice of law maintains its lofty goal of being a social tool for justice. <u>See The Florida Bar v. Senton</u>, 882 So. 2d 997, 1003 (Fla. 2004)(holding that even though coerced sex may not have arisen to level of criminal act, it justified disbarment). <u>See also The Florida Bar v. Bryant</u>, 813 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 2002)(imposing a one year suspension on an attorney who agreed to his client's suggestion to trade legal representation for sexual favors, among other violations).

The law also more closely scrutinizes lawyer advertising than other professionals. The Supreme Court has held that the state has the ability to regulate lawyer advertising both as a general interest to protect consumers (as is true with any profession) as well as "a special responsibility to regulate lawyers." <u>Mason v.</u> <u>The Florida Bar</u>, 208 F.3d 952, 956 (11th Cir. 2000)(citing Ohralik v. Ohio State <u>Bar Ass'n</u>, 436 U.S. 447 (1978). The Bar is even permitted to prohibit in-person solicitation by attorneys, a measure taken with no other profession, because it is viewed as "inconsistent with the profession's ideal of the attorney-client relationship and as posing a significant potential harm to the prospective client." Ohralik, 436 U.S. 454.

Florida attorneys, unlike any other profession, are required to annually report their pro bono services and their charitable giving to legal aid type

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